

Constitution and Rules of the Sustainable New Zealand Party

# Constitution and Rules of The Sustainable New Zealand Party

# 1. Objects

- 1.1. Environmental sustainability: our first duty is the stewardship of New Zealand's natural environment.
- 1.2. Economic sustainability: the economy must work within natural constraints to ensure that economic growth does not come at an environmental cost.
- 1.3. Social Sustainability: a sustainable society is one in which all people and their communities flourish.

# 2. Formation

- 2.1. The name of the Party is the Sustainable New Zealand Party.
- 2.2. The Party is a political party and will register and maintain registration under the Act.
- 2.3. The registered office of the Party will be at such place as the Board from time to time determines.

#### 3. Powers and Authorities

- 3.1. The Party may, as the Board from time to time deems appropriate, in carrying out the objects of the Party:
  - 3.1.1. promote and manage the purposes of the Sustainable New Zealand Party, including selection and support of candidates for election to the New Zealand House of Representatives;
  - 3.1.2. provide facilities, amenities and opportunities for the authorised use of the members of the party;
  - 3.1.3. purchase, take on lease, exchange, hire or otherwise acquire any real and/or personal property that may be necessary for the purposes of the Party, or used in connection with any of the objects of the Party;
  - 3.1.4. sell, manage, lease, mortgage, dispose of or otherwise deal with property both real and personal for the benefit of the Party;
  - 3.1.5. construct and maintain any Party rooms, offices, buildings or works necessary for the purposes and objects of the Party;
  - 3.1.6. take any gift of property (whether subject to any special trust or not) for any one or more of the objects of the Party;
  - 3.1.7. take any action, by personal or written appeals, public meetings or otherwise, as is necessary to secure contributions to the funds of the Party;

- 3.1.8. print and publish any publications in print or electronic form that the Party may think beneficial;
- 3.1.9. borrow money (by way of overdraft or otherwise), and to give security over all or any of the property of the Party;
- 3.1.10. invest all monies of the Party not immediately required for any of its objects in a manner to be determined by the Board;
- 3.1.11. establish and support Regional and Electorate structures of the Party to promote the purposes of the party;
- 3.1.12. acquire such rights, licences, liberties, privileges, patents or other items as may be desirable for the promotion of the activities of the Party;
- 3.1.13. either solely or in conjunction with other individuals or incorporated societies or other legal entities to pursue or carry out any of the above objects or functions, or any things incidental to the attainment of the objects of the Party.

# 4. Non-profit

- 4.1. The Party is a non-profit making body set up to undertake political activity
- 4.2. Any income, benefit or advantage received by the Party shall be applied towards the objectives and for the exclusive benefit of the Party
- 4.3. No member shall derive any pecuniary gain from the property or operations of the Party unless as an employee under a contract of service, or as a contractor under a contract of service or as a contractor under a contract for services, or under a contract for the supply of goods/services, under and in accordance with normal commercial practice
- 4.4. No member of the Party, nor any person associated with a member shall participate in or materially influence any decision made by the Party in respect of the payment to or on behalf of that member or associated person of any income, benefit, of advantage whatsoever.

### 5. Membership

- 5.1. Membership of the Party will be open to any person who is an Elector and who:
  - 5.1.1. Completes and submits an application form (in the form from time to time approved by the Board);
  - 5.1.2. Pays the Membership Fee; and
  - 5.1.3. Is approved for membership by the Secretary.
- 5.2. A member may be, simultaneously with his or her membership of the Party, a member of another political party or political organisation provided however that

no member who is simultaneously a member of another political party or political organisation may become a Board member, Candidate or spokesperson, or hold any other office or position within the Party, whether as an employee or otherwise, which would enable that Member to have or gain access to material or information to which, in the opinion of the Board, is not in the interests of the Party for that Member to have or gain access to.

- 5.3. The Board will have the absolute discretion to grant or refuse membership to any person, or to cancel membership in accordance with these rules, and will not be required or obliged to give any reason for doing so.
- 5.4. If the Secretary approves a membership application, they or their delegate must promptly give notice to the applicant stating that the applicant is a member of the Party.
- 5.5. The Secretary will keep and maintain a register of members in which will be entered the full name, residential address, email address and date of entry of the name of each member.
- 5.6. The level of the Membership Fee will be determined by the Board from time to time.
- 5.7. Members must pay the Membership Fee:
  - 5.7.1. On becoming a member; and
  - 5.7.2. Every 3 years from the date of their original membership acceptance.
- 5.8. The rights and duties of a member are personal. They cannot be assigned or transmitted to anyone else. Membership rights and duties end when membership ends.
- 5.9. A person will cease to be a member when:
  - 5.9.1. A member gives notice in writing to the Secretary of his or her registration;
  - 5.9.2. The Board believes at its absolute discretion that a member has failed to comply with these rules, or is guilty of conduct unbecoming of a member or prejudicial to the interests of the Party, and has provided notice to the member of its resolution to expel;
  - 5.9.3. A Member has not paid their membership fee after being given notice by the Secretary of the amount outstanding and has been given a reasonable amount of time to pay the fee; or
  - 5.9.4. A member dies.
- 5.10. The Secretary must record in the register of members the date on which the member ceased to be a member.
- 5.11. A member who has resigned or been expelled from the Party will cease to hold themselves out as a member of the Party and will return to the Party all material

- produced by the Party (including any membership certificate, handbooks and manuals).
- 5.12. Any former member may apply for re-admission as a member in the manner prescribed for admission of new members.
- 5.13. Members must treat all information relating to any commercial arrangement entered into by the Party as strictly confidential and must not disclose any information regarding those arrangements or any other confidentially sensitive information relating to the Party, to any third party without the prior written approval of the Board.
- 5.14. Membership Fees will not be refundable in any circumstances.
- 5.15. No member, supporter, or person may use or permit to be used any intellectual property, patents, trademarks, logos, technical processes, databases owned and held by the Party without first obtaining the prior written approval of the Board.

# 6. Meetings

- 6.1. The Party must convene an annual general meeting of its members in each calendar year, however no annual general meeting is required to be convened within the first 18 months from the date of registration of the Party with the Electoral Commission. The Board must set the date of the meeting. The notice convening the annual general meeting must state that the meeting is the annual general meeting. The ordinary business of the annual general meeting is, without limitation:
  - 6.1.1. To confirm the minutes of the last annual general meeting and any general meeting held since that meeting;
  - 6.1.2. To receive from the Board reports on the activities of the Party since the last annual general meeting;
  - 6.1.3. To read the names of those elected to the Board in accordance with clause 7.30.
- 6.2. The meeting may also transact any special business determined by the Board of which notice is given in accordance with these rules.
- 6.3. Any general meeting of the Party except the annual general meeting is a special general meeting. The Board may convene a special general meeting whenever it thinks fit. Reference in these rules to general meetings includes both annual general meetings and special general meetings.
- 6.4. At least 14 days before the date fixed for a general meeting of the Party, the Secretary must send each member of the Party notice specifying the place, date and time of the meeting and the nature of the business to be transacted at it.
- 6.5. No business may be transacted at a general meeting except the business specified in the notice of the meeting. A member who wants an item of business to be

- transacted at a general meeting may give notice of the business in writing to the Secretary. The Secretary may include the business in the next notice of a general meeting at the discretion of the Board.
- 6.6. An item of business may not be transacted at a general meeting unless a quorum of members entitled to vote is present while the item is being transacted. The quorum is 20 members.
- 6.7. If a quorum is not present at the time for commencement of a meeting and is still not present half an hour later, the meeting is automatically adjourned to the same time and day of the next week. It is to be held in the same place unless the chairperson specifies another place at the time of the adjournment or by a written notice given to members at least 24 hours before the date of the adjourned meeting.
- 6.8. If a quorum is not present at the time of the commencement of the adjourned meeting, and is still not present half an hour later, the quorum becomes 10 members. If that quorum is not present, the meeting is automatically dissolved.
- 6.9. The Secretary must preside as chairperson at each general meeting of the Party. If the Secretary is absent, one of the other Board members present at the meeting will preside as chairperson at the meeting.
- 6.10. The Chair of a general meeting at which a quorum is present may adjourn the meeting with the consent of a majority of the members present at the meeting. If a meeting is adjourned for 14 days or more, notice of the adjourned meeting must be given as in the case of the original meeting.
- 6.11. No business may be transacted at an adjourned meeting except business left unfinished at the original meeting.
- 6.12. A member is entitled to vote at a general meeting unless he or she owes an amount to the Party that is overdue.
- 6.13. A member has one vote on any question that is to be decided at a general meeting. A vote must be given personally or by proxy. If votes on a question are tied, the chairperson of the meeting is entitled to exercise a second or casting vote.
- 6.14. A question that is to be decided at a general meeting of the Party is to be decided on a show of hands. Unless a poll is demanded in accordance with clause 6.15, a declaration by the chairperson that a resolution has been carried, carried unanimously, carried by a particular majority, or lost, plus an entry to that effect in the minute book of the Party, is evidence of that fact, without proof of the number or proportion of the votes recorded for or against that resolution.
- 6.15. If at least five members entitled to vote at a general meeting demand a poll on a question that is to be decided at the meeting, the chairperson must comply with that demand. The demand may be made before a show of hands or immediately after

- the chairperson's declaration on a show of hands. In the latter case, the poll overrides the show of hands.
- 6.16. A poll that is demanded on a question of an adjournment must be taken immediately. Any other poll must be taken before the close of the meeting.
- 6.17. A member may appoint another member as their proxy at a meeting by giving the Secretary a notice in the form prescribed by the Board no later than 24 hours before the time of the meeting.

#### 7. Board

- 7.1. The party is to be managed by a Board. The Board may exercise all the powers of the Party except those that the rules require to be exercised by an annual general meeting or special general meeting.
  - 7.2. The Board shall comprise not less than 3 and no more than 7 members being:
  - 7.2.1. The Party Leader, who will be an ex-officio member of the Board; and
  - 7.2.2. Up to 6 other members appointed in accordance with these rules.
- 7.3. Members of the Board will hold office until they resign or vacate or are removed from office in accordance with these rules.
- 7.4. The office of an officer of the Party or of an ordinary member of the Board becomes vacant if that officer or member:
  - 7.4.1. Ceases to be a member of the Party;
  - 7.4.2. Resigns from office by giving the Secretary notice in writing;
  - 7.4.3. Becomes bankrupt;
  - 7.4.4. Is assessed as lacking mental capacity to manage his or her own affairs; or 7.4.5. Dies.
- 7.5. The Board shall appoint a Chair by a majority vote of its members.
- 7.6. The Board may remove a member of the Board by a 75% majority at a meeting of the Board held for that purpose, with the exception of the Party Leader whose appointment and removal is dealt with under clause 11.
- 7.7. The Board shall meet at such intervals as the Board determines. The Party Leader or any two members of the Board may convene a meeting. 48 hours' notice of a meeting must be given to members of the Board. The notice must specify the place, date and time of the meeting and the nature of the business to be transacted at it.
- 7.8. If the Chair considers it appropriate the notice period may be waived in exceptional circumstances.
- 7.9. The Board may make a resolution by email between the Board members if required.

  Quorum shall be taken by responses to the email.

- 7.10. An item of business must not be transacted at a Board meeting unless a quorum of members entitled to vote is present while the item is being transacted. The quorum is 50% of the members of the Board. If a quorum is not present at the time for commencement of a meeting, and is still not present half an hour later, the meeting is automatically adjourned to the same time and day in the next week. It is to be held in the same place unless the Chair specifies another place at the time of the adjournment or by a written note given to the Board members at least 24 hours before the date of the adjourned meeting.
- 7.11. If a quorum is not present at the time of the commencement of an adjourned meeting, and is not present half an hour later, the meeting is automatically dissolved.
- 7.12. If the Board Chair is absent, the members present must elect one of their number to preside as chairperson at the meeting.
- 7.13. The Chair of a Board meeting at which a quorum is present may adjourn the meeting with its consent. If a meeting is adjourned for 14 days or more, notice of the adjourned meeting must be given as in the case of the original meeting.
- 7.14. A question that is to be decided at a Board meeting has to be decided by a show of hands. Unless a poll is demanded in accordance with clause 7.15, a declaration by the Chair that a resolution has been carried, carried unanimously, carried by a particular majority, or lost, plus an entry to that effect in the minute book of the Party, is evidence of that fact, without proof of the number or proportion of the votes recorded for or against that resolution.
- 7.15. If at least three members entitled to vote at a Board meeting demand a poll on the question that is to be decided, the Chair must comply with that demand. The demand may be made before a show of hands or immediately after the Chair's declaration on a show of hands. In the latter case the poll overrides the show of hands.
- 7.16. A member is entitled to vote at a Board meeting unless they owe an amount to the Party that is overdue. If votes on a question are tied, the Chair of the meeting is entitled to exercise a second or casting vote.
- 7.17. The Board may appoint subcommittees of the Party consisting of such persons and for such purposes as the Board thinks fit. At least three members of every subcommittee must be members of the Party. Subcommittees will only have the powers and duties that are conferred on them by the Board.
- 7.18. The Board, members of the Board and any subcommittee appointed under these rules shall not be liable to the members for, or in respect of, any act, matter or thing

- done, or suffered in good faith in pursuance of the Objects, notwithstanding any irregularity.
- 7.19. The members of the Board and any subcommittee appointed under these rules will at all times be held indemnified by the Party from and against all claims, acts, proceedings and damages made, suffered or sustained by a Board or subcommittee member as a result of carrying out in good faith the requirements of the Board, subcommittee or the Party.
- 7.20. The initial Board will be appointed by the Initial Party Leader, and its members shall hold office until the first annual general meeting.
- 7.21. Until the first annual general meeting is held, the Board may appoint additional Board members to fill vacancies or add required skills as the Board deems necessary.
- 7.22. After the first annual general meeting, if there is a vacancy on the Board, or the Board determines that one or more additional Board members ought to be appointed, then within a reasonable amount of time prior to the next annual general meeting the Board must appoint a Selection Committee. The Selection Committee must comprise at least two members of the Board, including the Party Leader, and may comprise up to four other members who may or may not be members of the Board.
- 7.23. The Selection Committee must provide notice to all members of the Party of any vacancies or new positions that are required to be filled by election to the Board. The notice will invite members to forward written nominations to the Selection Committee within a time set by the Selection Committee. The nominations shall include:
  - 7.23.1. A signed letter from the nominee that confirms their willingness to be elected;
  - 7.23.2. A brief statement detailing why the nominee is a sound candidate for election to the Board; and
  - 7.23.3. A photograph of the nominee.
- 7.24. Members may nominate themselves for election to the Board.
- 7.25. The Selection Committee must consider each nominee and may conduct any further interviews or inquiries that it deems necessary. Following this inquiry the Selection Committee will deliver to the Board a list of nominees that it endorses, complete with any information that it has obtained on those endorsed nominees.
- 7.26. The Board must then determine the candidates for election to the Board from the Selection Committee's list of endorsed nominees. The decision of the Board will be

- final and there will be no right of appeal against any decisions made by the Selection Committee or the Board during the candidate selection process.
- 7.27. No error made by the Selection Committee or the Board or anyone else will invalidate the candidate selection process.
- 7.28. The Board will give its final list of candidates to the Secretary. The Secretary will circulate voting papers to each member by post or email no less than 4 weeks prior to the annual general meeting. Any voting papers that are not returned before this time period will be deemed invalid, unless the Board determines otherwise.
- 7.29. Members must return their completed voting papers to the Secretary either by post or email no later than a week prior to the annual general meeting. Any voting papers that are not returned before this time period will be deemed invalid, unless the Board determines otherwise.
- 7.30. The secretary and a Board member appointed by the Board will count the voting papers. The secretary will announce the results of the vote at the annual general meeting.
- 7.31. If a Board member vacates office, and there is a need to appoint a new Board member to ensure that the minimum number of Board members is maintained, the Board will appoint a member to fill the vacancy. That person will hold office until the end of the next annual general meeting after the date of their appointment.
- 7.32. The Board will have the power to do all lawful acts and things incidental or conducive to the attainment of the Party's objects including the power to:
  - 7.32.1. Determine how the Party uses its funds to pay the costs and expenses of furthering or carrying out its objects, and for that purpose may employ such people as necessary;
  - 7.32.2. Purchase, lease, hire or otherwise acquire, exchange, and sell, lease or otherwise dispose of property, rights and privileges to further or carry out its objects as necessary;
  - 7.32.3. Negotiate and enter into any arrangements with any other organisations in order to achieve the Party's objects, and do all things necessary in order to carry out those arrangements;
  - 7.32.4. Invest Party funds in any investment in which a trustee may invest; and
  - 7.32.5. Borrow or raise money with or without security on such terms as the Board thinks fit.
- 7.33. Notwithstanding any other provision, the Board may only use the Party's money to further purposes recognised by law. No money of the Party is to be applied for the sole personal or individual benefit of any member.

- 7.34. The Board will select a coalition negotiation team to include the Party Leader, the Secretary and any others they deem necessary. The Board will approve any coalition agreement.
- 7.35. If any issue arises which is not provided for by this constitution, the Board shall determine it.

## 8. Secretary

- 8.1. The Board must appoint a Secretary of the Party. The Secretary may be a member of the Board, but does not need to be.
- 8.2. The Secretary will hold office for such term as the Board determines.
- 8.3. The Secretary must:
  - 8.3.1. Attend general meetings and Board meetings and keep minutes of the resolutions and proceedings of each general meeting and each Board meeting in the Party's minute book and the Board's minute book;
  - 8.3.2. Maintain regular communications with members;
  - 8.3.3. Provide such information as may be requested from time to time by any member;
  - 8.3.4. Ensure that the party fully complies with New Zealand's electoral laws and policies, including;
    - a. Annual statutory declarations confirming continuing eligibility for registration;
    - b. Annual party donation and loan returns;
    - c. Authorising electoral advertising; and
    - d. Making general election expense returns.
    - e. Complete such other duties as the Board may determine from time to time.

# 9. Party List

- 9.1. In a year where there is a General Election, the Board must seek nominations for the Party List.
- 9.2. The Secretary must provide notice to all members that the Board is seeking nominations for the Party List. The notice provided by the Secretary will invite members to forward written nominations to the Board within a time period set by the Board. The nominations shall include:
  - 9.2.1. A signed letter from the nominee that confirms their willingness to be elected;
  - 9.2.2. A brief statement detailing why the nominee would be a sound Candidate;

- 9.2.3. A written reference in support of the nominee from a person of standing in the community who is not to be related to the nominating member or the nominee (if they are different people) and;
- 9.2.4. A photograph of the nominee.
- 9.3. Members may nominate themselves for the Party List.
- 9.4. After the expiry of the time period, the Board will consider all nominations that it has received and may conduct any further interviews or inquiries that it deems necessary.
- 9.5. The Board will then produce the Party List which will consist of ranked List Candidates.
  When determining how many List Candidates to place on the Party List, the Board may have regard to:
  - 9.5.1. The number of electorates (if any) that the Party wishes to contest in the upcoming election; and
  - 9.5.2. The number of members that the Party may have in Parliament.
  - 9.5.3. The decision of the Board will be final and no error in this process made by the Board or anyone else will invalidate the selection of the Party List.
  - 9.5.4. The final Party List will be circulated to all members.

#### 10. Electorate Candidates

- 10.1. Following the Board's selection of the Party List, the Board may ask any List Candidates to stand for the Party as Electorate Candidates.
- 10.2. The process of selection of Electorate Candidates will be at the discretion of the Board and any decisions made by the Board will be final.
- 10.3. A List Candidate may decline to become an Electorate Candidate and continue to be a List Candidate.

#### 11. Party Leader

- 11.1. The Party Leader will be responsible for directing the Party's parliamentary affairs, should it be represented in Parliament.
- 11.2. The Party Leader will be an ex-officio member of the Board with full voting and speaking rights.
- 11.3. The Party Leader must be a member of the Party, and prior to their appointment they may be a member of the Board.
- 11.4. The Party Leader will be appointed and may be removed by a 75% majority of the Board at a meeting held for that purpose.
- 11.5. The Initial Party Leader shall be the Party Leader until such time as he resigns or is removed in accordance with clause 11.4.

#### 12. Caucus

- 12.1. Caucus shall be formed on the election of persons to represent the Party in Parliament and shall exist for the period that the Party has members in Parliament.
- 12.2. Members of Caucus shall be:
  - 12.2.1. The Party Leader
  - 12.2.2. The persons elected to represent the Party in Parliament
  - 12.2.3. Any other persons appointed by Caucus from time to time.
- 12.3. Caucus will make such rules for its conduct, to be approved by the Board as long as they are not inconsistent with the values of the Party.
- 12.4. Only the Party Leader and the elected representatives shall have voting rights on any matters to be decided by Caucus. If any votes on a matter are tied, the Party Leader is entitled to exercise a second or casting vote.

# 13. Policy and Manifesto Development

13.1. The Board shall be responsible for developing the Party's policies and manifesto and may form such subcommittees and put in place such processes in relation to this as the Board thinks fit.

## 14. Dispute Resolution

- 14.1. If a dispute arises between two members of the Party, it shall be resolved by negotiation between the parties with the assistance of the Board.
- 14.2. Where a member wishes to dispute a decision of the Board, notice of the dispute must be given to the Secretary within 5 days of the member becoming aware of the Board's decision. The Board must hear the member's dispute within 15 days if it determines that the dispute is valid.
- 14.3. The Board will make all reasonable attempts to resolve the dispute with the member in good faith negotiations.
- 14.4. If the parties cannot resolve the dispute in accordance with the prior clauses, the dispute shall be referred to, and finally resolved by, arbitration in accordance with New Zealand law and the current Arbitration Protocol of the Arbitrators' and Mediators' Institute of New Zealand (AMINZ). The arbitration shall be conducted by one arbitrator to be agreed upon by the parties and if they fail to agree within 21 days, then to be appointed by the President of AMINZ.
- 14.5. The subject matter of the dispute and the findings of the arbitrator (if the dispute is arbitrated) shall be confidential to the parties and any respective advisors. This outcome will be considered full and final.

### 15. Bylaws

- 15.1. The Board may enact any bylaws that may amend or clarify these rules. Any bylaws must not be inconsistent with these rules.
- 15.2. The Party Secretary must keep a register of all such bylaws which will be readily available to all members upon request.
- 15.3. The Board may amend or revoke bylaws at its own discretion.

#### 16. Miscellaneous

- 16.1. Every Member shall be deemed to have notice of and be bound by these Rules.
- 16.2. These rules may be altered, added to or rescinded at any meeting of the Board called for that purpose. The notice of meeting given to Board members will contain details of the proposed amendments, or a copy of the rules marked up with the proposed amendments. The resolution to alter, add to or rescind these rules will be effective if passed by not less than 75% of the Board members present at the meeting.
- 16.3. Where any alterations are made to these rules the Board shall provide notice of the alterations to the members.
- 16.4. The Secretary will retain the common seal of the Party.
- 16.5. Documents will be executed by the Party pursuant to a resolution of the Board in one of the following ways:
  - 16.5.1. By affixing the common seal witnessed by the Party Leader and countersigned by the Chair of the Board
  - 16.5.2. Where the document is not required by statute to be executed under the common seal, the Party Leader or the Chair of the Board signing on behalf of the Party.
- 16.6. Every year a set of annual financial statements will be prepared by or at the instigation of the Board showing all the receipts and expenditure of the Party since the preceding annual financial statements and will include a general statement of the funds, effects, liabilities, assets and all mortgages, charges and securities of any description affecting any property of the Party.
- 16.7. The financial year of the Party will be from 1 January to 31 December or as may otherwise be determined by the Board.
- 16.8. The Party may be dissolved and its affairs wound up at a meeting of the Board called for that purpose. The notice for that meeting must specify winding up the Party as the business, or part of the business, of the meeting. The resolution will be effective if passed by not less than 75% of the Board members present at the meeting.

- 16.9. If the Party is wound up, the surplus assets after payment of all debts, costs and liabilities will be disposed of in accordance with the terms of a resolution passed at a meeting of the Board called for that purpose. The surplus assets or funds must be given or transferred to some other organisation within New Zealand having been deemed by the Board to have objectives similar to those of the Party.
- 16.10. A notice or other document may be served on a member of the Party either personally or by sending it by post or emailing it to the member at the address or email address shown on the register of members.
- 16.11. A notice or other document sent by post is to be treated as having been given to the person at the time the letter would have been delivered in the ordinary course of the post.
- 16.12. A notice or other document sent by email is to be treated as having been given to the person at the time the email was successfully sent to the person.

# 17. Definitions and Interpretation

17.1. In these rules the following definitions will apply:

Act means the Electoral Act 1993 or any replacement or substituting legislation.

**Caucus** means the body of persons established under Clause 9 and responsible for representing the Party in Parliament

**Election** means an election of a member of the House of Representatives, and includes a General Election and a By-Election as those terms are defined in the Act.

**Electorate Candidate** means a constituency candidate, as that term is defined in the Act.

**Elector** means any person who is eligible to enrol as an elector under the Act.

**General Election** means as that term is described in the Act.

Initial Party Leader means Vernon Ivan Tava.

List Candidate means as that term is defined in the Act.

**Membership Fee** means the fee payable to become, and remain, a member of the Party.

**Objects** means the objects of the Party as set out in Clause 3.

**Party** means the party formed and operating pursuant to these rules.

**Party Leader** means the person who is the leader of the Party appointed or holding office under Clause 11.

Party List means the list of candidates selected by the Party to contest an Election.

**Secretary** means party secretary appointed and holding office in accordance with these rules.

**Selection Committee** means a committee appointed by the Board in accordance with Clause 7.22.

# The Sustainable New Zealand Party

### Selection Process for Electorate and List Candidates

### **Background**

- A. Under clause 15 of the Party's Constitution and Rules (Rules) the Board may enact bylaws that amend or clarify the Rules, provided they are not inconsistent with the Rules.
- B. Under clause 10.2 of the Rules the process of selecting Electorate Candidates will be at the discretion of the Board.
- C. At a meeting of the Board held on 16 December 2019 the Board resolved to adopt the process set out in this document as the process for selecting Electorate and List Candidates.

### **Decision to stand Electorate Candidates**

- 1. The primary focus of the Party is on the party vote but the Board may decide to stand Electorate Candidates in one or more electorates in a General Election, or an Electorate Candidate in a By-Election. The decision whether or not to stand an Electorate Candidate shall be at the discretion of the Board and any decisions made by the Board will be final.
- 2. At a time determined by the Board, the Party Secretary will provide notice to all members that the Board is seeking nominations for List and/or Electorate Candidates. The notice provided by the Party Secretary will invite members to forward written nominations to the Board within a time period set by the Board, and specified in the notice. The Board may however close nominations early in respect of List Candidates and/or Electoral Candidate positions, generally or in a particular electorate, by giving members not less than 5 days' notice.
- 3. The nominations shall include:
  - 3.1. A signed letter from the nominee that confirms their willingness to be appointed as a Candidate:
  - 3.2. A completed candidacy questionnaire in a form to be determined by the Board.
  - 3.3. A brief statement detailing why the nominee would be a sound List and/or Electorate Candidate:
  - 3.4. A written reference in support of the nominee from a person of standing in the community who is not to be related to the nominating member or the nominee (if they are different people);

- 3.5. A photograph of the nominee;
- 3.6. The nominee's current curriculum vitae;
- 3.7. Any information about the nominee which is not favourable or that could bring the Party into disrepute or reasonably cause the nominee to be ineligible for appointment as a Candidate:
- 3.8. Permission from the nominee for the Party to request Police criminal record checks, in such form as the Party requires.
- 4. Members may nominate themselves as a List and/or Electorate Candidate.
- 5. Where a member is making a nomination in respect of a non-member, the non-member must personally apply for membership of the Party as soon as is practicable.
- 6. After the expiry of the time period for nominations, the Board will consider all nominations that it has received and may conduct any further interviews or inquiries that it deems necessary. If the Board considers it appropriate, it may begin considering nominations immediately on receipt rather than waiting until the expiry of the nomination period.
- 7. In carrying out nomination assessments, the Board must take into account each nominee's:
  - 7.1. Understanding of and commitment to the Party's policies;
  - 7.2. Ability to connect with the public, give speeches and effectively debate policy issues;
  - 7.3. Eligibility to stand as a candidate;
  - 7.4. Ethical and moral character;
  - 7.5. Ability to add value; and
  - 7.6. Connection to the electorate and the communities within it, if applicable.
- 8. Following completion of its assessment of the Electorate Candidate nominees, the Board will select the nominees it considers suitable to stand as Electoral Candidates.
- 9. Following completion of its assessment of the List Candidate nominees, the Board will produce a Party List in accordance with clause 9.5 of the Rules.
- 10. The Board may from time to time add or remove Candidates from the Party List, and/or change how the Candidates are ranked where it considers it necessary to do so.
- 11. Notwithstanding the processes set out above, the Board shall have the power, at any time before the date on which Candidates need to be notified to the Electoral Commission, to appoint any person it considers suitable as a List and/or Electorate Candidate.
- 12. The Board will, on such date as it determines, advise members, and such other persons as it considers appropriate, of the Candidates selected to represent the Party, and in respect of List Candidates, the order in which they will be ranked on the Party List.
- 13. All Candidates must agree to comply with, and adhere to, the Party's candidate code of conduct (Candidate Code of Conduct). The Candidate Code of Conduct will be

- developed by the Board and made available to Candidates within a reasonable time prior to their appointment.
- 14. The Board may add to or amend the Candidate Code of Conduct from time to time. The Board will promptly notify Candidates of any additions or alterations to the Candidate Code of Conduct.
- 15. The Board may withdraw the candidacy of any Candidate:
  - 15.1. Who breaches the Candidate Code of Conduct
  - 15.2. Whose information provided to the Party Secretary, the Board or any other party as part of the candidate selection process was inaccurate or misleading in any material part or respect or omitted significant relevant material; or
  - 15.3. Where in the view of the Board the withdrawal is in the interests of the Party.
- 16. The decisions of the Board will be final and no errors in this process made by the Board or anyone else will invalidate the selection of List and/or Electorate Candidates.